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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Civil Action No. % . O ev ey / MR [T

U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,

V.

DAVID A. OWEN, an individual,

Defendant.
COMPLAINT
I
SUMMARY
1. Commencing in at least October 2006 and continuing through the present

(“the relevant period”), David A. Owen (“Owen” or “Defendant”), an unregistered
commodity pool operator (“CPO”), fraudulently solicited and accepted at least $2.5

million from at least nine members of the general public to participate in commodity . . .,

futures pools, through partnerships with the name of Oasis Futures.



2. Owen, holding himself out as a certified public accountant, tax attorney,
and financial advisor, fraudulently solicited prospective and existing pool participants by,
but not limited to, the following means: (1) falsely claiming he had expertise and a
successful track record trading commodity futures for himself; (2) misrepresenting the
risk of loss in trading commodity futures; (3) issuing false account statements showing
profits on commodity futures trading that were, in fact, not realized; (4) pressuring
individuals to participate in his pools by claiming that based upon his expert analysis, if
they failed to invest, they would miss a huge opportunity in the market; and (5) failing to
disclose his prior criminal convictions for fraud.

3. Throughout the relevant period, Owen provided periodic written and oral
statements to pool participants reflecting that he was profitably trading futures on behalf
of the pools and pool participants. Owen was not successfully trading futures on behalf
of the pool or pool participants. Instead, Owen traded futures in personal trading
accounts only and sustained losses of approximately more than $1.6 million. Owen
withdrew and misappropriated the remainder of the pool participants’ funds,
approximately $800,000, to return funds to other pool participants or for personal use.

4. In January 2009, Owen notified the pool participants that he had lost their
funds trading.

5. Owen’s fraudulent solicitations, misappropriation, and issuance of false
statements to pool participants violate Sections 4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) and 40(1) of the
Commodity Exchange Act (“Act” or “CEA”), 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(1)-(i11) and 60(1)

(2006), and Sections 4b(a)(1)(A)-(C) of the Act as amended by the Food, Conservation,



and Energy Act of 2008, Pub. L. No. 110-246, Title XIII (the CFTC Reauthorization Act
0f 2008 (“CRA”™)), § 13102, 122 Stat.1651 (enacted June 18, 2008), to be codified at 7
U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A)-(C).

6. In soliciting and accepting funds from individuals for purposes of pooling
the funds to trade commodity futures, Owen was acting as a CPO without being
registered as required. Defendant’s failure to register as a CPO violates Section 4m(1) of
the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006).

7. Defendant also did not operate the pool as a separate legal entity, accepted
funds in his own name, not the pool’s, and did not provide pool participants with required
Disclosure Documents in violation of Commission Regulations (“Regulations™)
4.20(a)(1) and (b) and 4.21(a)(1) and (b), 17 C.F.R. §§ 4.20(a)(1) and (b), and 4.21(a)(1)
and (b) (2009).

8. Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6¢ of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006),
the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“Commission” or “CFTC”) brings this
action to enjoin Defendant’s unlawful acts and practices. In addition, the Commission
seeks civil monetary penalties for each violation of the Act and Regulations,
disgorgement of Defendant’s ill-gotten gains, restitution to pool participants, pre-
Judgment interest, post-judgment interest and such other relief as this Court may deem
necessary or appropriate.

9. Unless enjoined by this Court, the Defendant is likely to continue to

engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint, as more fully described below.



I1.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10.  The CEA establishes a comprehensive system for regulating, in relevant
part, the purchase and sale of commodity futures contracts and options on commodity
futures. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6¢ of the Act, 7
U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006).

11. Section 6¢ of the Act provides that whenever it shall appear to the
Commission that any person has engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage in any act or
practice constituting a violation of any provision of the Act or any rule, regulation, or
order promulgated thereunder, the Commission may bring an action against such person
to enjoin such practice or to enforce compliance with the Act.

12. Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6¢(e) of the Act, 7
U.S.C. § 13a-1(e) (2006), in that Defendant is found in or inhabits or transacts business in
this District, and/or the acts and practices in violation of the Act have occurred, are
occurring, or are about to occur, within this District, among other places.

I11.
THE PARTIES

13. Plaintiff U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an
independent federal regulatory agency that is charged with the administration and
enforcement of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq., and the Regulations promulgated

thereunder.



14.  Defendant David A. Owen is an individual whose last known place of
residence is Destin, Florida. Owen is engaged in the business of soliciting and accepting
funds from prospective pool participants to participate in commodity futures pools.
Owen has never been registered with the Commission in any capacity.

Iv.
FACTS

Defendant’s Fraudulent Solicitations

15, During the relevant period, Defendant solicited and accepted at least $2.5
million from at least nine members of the general public to participate in commodity
pools, for the purpose of trading commaodity futures.

16.  Commencing in October 2006, Owen initially solicited, through casual
conversations, prospective participants who were his clients for whom he prepared tax
returns and/or gave financial or legal advice. Specifically, Owen told certain clients that
he watched the futures markets in his spare time, and that he had developed an expertise
in determining market movements and trading commodity futures.

17. Eventually, Owen increased the pressure of his solicitations of prospective
participants while suggesting that his knowledge of the markets, coupled with the
impending economic crisis, necessitated that they invest with him in earnest. According
to Owen, the need to invest immediately was to avoid missing potentially profitable
movements in the commodity futures markets.

18.  The prospective pool participants were generally unknowledgeable about

the commodity futures markets.



19.  In his solicitations, Owen told prospective participants of significant
profits earned by current participants. Owen sometimes caused existing participants to
share with prospective participants their email updates from Owen showing the profits.
For example, one prospective pool participant received an email update showing that an
initial pool participant’s investment of $100,000.00 “posted” a return of approximately
$41,000.00 during a nine month span. In addition, Owen told at least one prospective
participant that he was 70% profitable in one year of trading commodity futures.

20.  Owen also reassured prospective participants about the risks associated
with trading commodity futures by claiming that he employed a “$500 stop — loss™ on all
his trading. Owen explained that such a “stop — loss” meant that pool participants would
lose no more than $500 on any given trade.

21. Owen never disclosed to prospective or actual participants that he had
prior criminal convictions for fraud, among other things.

22.  Prospective participants relied on Owen’s misrepresentations and
omissions in deciding whether to participate in a pool.

23.  Once the prospective participants were induced to participate in a pool,
Owen had them each sign an “Oasis Futures Partnership Agreement.” The partnership
agreement detailed, among other things, the following information:

e the participants — usually limited to Owen as the managing partner and one
to three additional investors;
e their percentage interest in the pc;ol/pannership — based upon the amount

mvested;



e Owen’s compensation — 20% of the net trading profit plus $1000/mo.
expenses;

e The account number and location of the trading account;

» The purpose of the partnership: to trade futures contracts on the Chicago
Board of Trade, the Chicago Mercantile Exchange, and the New York
Mercantile Exchange, among other places.

24.  The partnership agreement required that pool participants receive a
monthly report of the partnership’s trading activity.

25.  Pool participants wired funds or sent checks to a personal bank account
held in Owen’s name in order to participate in a pool. Most of the pool participants
invested with Owen throughout 2008.

26.  Owen did not provide Disclosure Documents to prospective or actual
participants.

Owen Concealed Trading Losses Through False Statements

27.  Owen provided pool participants with periodic statements through
electronic mail consistently showing profitable monthly results purportedly from Owen’s
trading on behalf of the pool. Some participants received the statements on a monthly
basis and others received them more frequently.

28.  For some participants, in his periodic statements, Owen provided market
forecasts, as well as explanations for his movements in the markets. Owen also provided
complex trading charts and graphs to “explain” his market moves. He routinely touted

his avoidance of risks and preservation of capital as important goals.



29.  Owen’s periodic statements to pool participants, as well as .his claims of
being a successful commodity futures trader were false. Owen was not successfully
trading on behalf of the pool, pool participants or himself. Indeed, Owen never had been
a successful commodity futures trader.

30.  Before and after soliciting pool participants, Owen maintained personal
commodity futures trading accounts held in his name at a futures commission merchant
registered with the Commission.

31.  Inhis personal trading accounts during the relevant period, Owen lost
approximately $1.69 million trading commodity futures and was sustaining net losses on
a monthly basis.

32.  InJanuary 2009, Owen notified pool participants that their funds were
gone. He admitted that the account statements he provided to them were false, and that
he lost a substantial portion of their money in the market. Owen then offered to, and did
execute promissory notes to several pool participants for their lost capital. Owen
misappropriated approximately $800,000.00 of customer funds for a combination of his
personal use and to repay other pool participants.

33.  Pool participants have demanded full return of their funds. However,

Owen has made only partial refunds.



V.

VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT AND
COMMISSION REGULATIONS

COUNT ONE

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 4b(a)(2) OF THE ACT AND SECTION 4b(a)(1)
OF THE ACT AS AMENDED BY THE CRA:
SOLICITATION FRAUD, MISAPPROPRIATION
AND FALSE STATEMENTS (Futures)

34.  The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 33 are re-alleged and
incorporated herein by reference.

35.  Prior to being amended by the CRA, Sections 4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii) of the Act, 7
U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(1)-(1i1) (2006), made it unlawful |

for any person, in or in connection with any order to make,
or the making of, any contract of sale of any commodity for
future delivery, made, or to be made, for or on behalf of
any other person if such contract for future delivery is or

~ may be used for (A) hedging any transaction in interstate
commerce in such commodity or the products or
byproducts thereof, or (B) determining the price basis of
any transaction in interstate commerce in such commodity,
or (C) delivering any such commodity sold, shipped, or
received in interstate commerce for the fulfillment
thereof—(1) to cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or
defraud such other person; (ii) willfully to make or cause to
be made to such other person any false report or statement
thereof, . . .[or]; (ii1) willfully to deceive or attempt to
deceive such other person by any means whatsoever in
regard to any such order or contract or disposition or
execution of any such order or contract, or in regard to any
act of agency performed with respect to such order or
contract for such person.

36.  Sections 4b(a)(1)(A)-(C) of the Act as amended by the CRA, to be

9



codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A)-(C), make it unlawful

for any person, in or in connection with any order to make,
or the making of, any contract of sale of any commodity in
interstate commerce or for future delivery that is made, or
to be 'made, on or subject to the rules of a designated
contract market, for or on behalf of any other person — (A)
to cheat or defraud or attempt to cheat or defraud the other
person; (B) willfully to make or cause to be made to the
other person any false report or statement, . . . [or] (C)
willfully to deceive or attempt to deceive the other person
by any means whatsoever in regard to any order or contract
or the disposition or execution of any order or contract, or
in regard to any act of agency performed, with respect to
any order or contract for ... the other person.

37.  During the relevant period, Defendant knowingly, willfully or recklessly
made and is making false, deceptive, or misleading representations and omissions of
material facts in the solicitations of prospective and existing pool participants, in
violation of Sections 4b(a)(2)(i) and (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i) and (iii)
(2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2008, and in violation of Sections
4b(a)(1)(A) and (C) of the Act as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C.

§§ 6b(a)(1)(A) and (C), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18, 2008.

38. By using funds solicited to trade commodity futures for pool participants
for purposes other than trading, as set forth above, Defendant knowingly misappropriated
funds in violation of Sections 4b(a)(2)(i) and (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i) and
(i11) (2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2008, and in violation of
Sections 4b(a)(1)(A) and (C) of the Act as amended by the CRA, to be codified at
7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A) and (C), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18, 2008.

39.  Furthermore, as set forth above, Defendant has willfully made or caused to

10



be made to other persons false reports and statements concealing commodity futures
trading losses, in violation of Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(2)(ii)
(2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2008, and in violation of Section
4b(a)(1)(B) of the Act as amended by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(B),
with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18, 2008.

40.  Each act of solicitation fraud, misappropriation, and each false statement
Defendant made during the relevant time period, including but not limited to those
specifically alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Sections
4b(a)(i)-(iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(i)-(iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring
before June 18, 2008, and in violation of Sections 4b(a)(1)(A)-(C) of the Act as amended
by the CRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(1)(A)-(C), with respect to acts occurring
on or after June 18, 200‘8.

COUNT TWO

VIOLATION OF SECTION 40(1) OF THE ACT:
FRAUD AS A CPO

41.  Paragraphs 1 through 40 are re-alleged and incorporated herein.

42.  During the relevant period, Defendant, while acting as a CPO, violated
Section 40(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 60(1) (2006), in that Defendant directly or indirectly
employed or is employing a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud participants or
prospective pool participants, or has engaged or is engaged in transactions, practices or a
course of business that operated or operates as a fraud or deceit upon participants or

prospective pool participants by using the mails or other means or instrumentalities of

11



interstate commerce. Defendant’s fraudulent acts consisted of, among other things,
solicitation fraud, misappropriation and issuance of false statements as alleged above.

43.  Each act of solicitation fraud, misappropriation, and each false statement
made during the relevant period, including but not limited to those specifically alleged
herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Section 40(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.
§ 60(1) (2006).

COUNT THREE

VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 4m(1) OF THE ACT:
FAILURE TO REGISTER AS A COMMODITY POOL OPERATOR

44.  The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 43 are re-alleged and
incorporated herein by reference.

45.  Defendant has used the mails or instrumentalities of interstate commerce
in or in connection with his business as a CPO while failing to register with the
Commission as a CPO, in violation of Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006).

COUNT FOUR

VIOLATIONS OF COMMISSION REGULATION 4.20:
CPO'S FAILURE TO TREAT THE POOL AS A SEPARATE ENTITY

46.  The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 45 are re-alleged and
incorporated herein by reference.

47.  Asalleged above, by depositing participant funds into accounts not held in
the name of the pool, Defendant failed to operate the pools as legal entities separate from
himself as the pool operator and failed to accept funds in the name of the pools, in

violation of Regulations 4.20(a)(1) and (b), 17 C.F.R. §§ 4.20(a)(1) and(b) (2009).

12



COUNT FIVE

VIOLATIONS OF REGULATION 4.21:
FAILURE TO PROVIDE POOL DISCLOSURE DOCUMENTS

48.  The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 47 are re-alleged and
incorporated herein by reference.

49.  Regulation 4.21(a)(1), 17 C.F.R. § 4.21(a)(1) (2009), requires that a CPO
must furnish a prospective pool participant with a written “Disclosure Document”
containing specific language set forth by regulation by no later than the time the CPO
delivers to the prospective participant a subscription agreement for the pool. In addition,
prior to accepting or receiving funds from a prospective participant, Regulation 4.21(b),
17 CFR. §4.21(b) (2009), requires that a CPO first receive from the prospective
participant an acknowledgment signed and dated by the participant that they received the
Disclosure Document.

50.  As alleged above, Defendant failed to furnish prospective pool participants
with a written Disclosure Document and failed to receive signed and dated
acknowledgments from the prospective pool participants stating that they received the
Disclosure Document, in violation of Regulations 4.21(a)(1) and (b), 17 CF.R.
§§ 4.21(a)(1) and (b) (2009).

VI.
RELIEF REQUESTED
WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff respectfully request that this Court, as authorized by

Section 6¢ of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2006), and pursuant to its own equitable powers

13



enter:

a) an order finding the Defendant violated Sections 4b(a)(2)(i)-(iii), 4m(1)
and 40(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 6b(a)(2)(i)-(iii), 6m(1) and 60(1) (2006),
Sections 4b(1)(A)-(C) of the Act as amended by the CRA, to be codified at
7U.S.C. §§ 6b(1)(A)-(C), and Regulations 4.20(a)(1) and (b) and
4.21(a)(1) and (b), 17 C.F.R. §§ 4.20(a)(1) and (b) and 4.21(a)(1) and (b)
(2009);

b) a permanent injunction prohibiting the Defendant from engaging in
conduct violative of Sections 4m(1) and 40(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §§
6m(1) and 60(1) (2006), Sections 4b(1)(A)-(C) of the Act as amended by
the CRA, and Regulations 4.20(a)(1) and (b) and 4.21(a)(1) and (b), 17
C.F.R. §§ 4.20(a)(1) and (b) and 4.21(a)(1) and (b) (2009);

¢) an order directing the Defendant to disgorge, pursuant to such procedure
as the Court may order, all benefits received from the acts or practices that
constitute violations of the Act or Regulations, as described herein, and
interest thereon from the date of such violations;

d) an order directing the Defendant to make full restitution to every
participant whose funds he received as a result of acts and practices that
constituted violations of the Act and Regulations, described herein, and
interest thereon from the date of such violations;

e) an order directing the Defendant to pay a civil monetary penalty for
each violation of the Act and Regulations described herein, plus pre-
judgment and post-judgment interest, in the amount of the higher of:
$140,000 for each violation of the Act and Regulations committed on or
after October 23, 2008; $130,000 for each violation of the Act and
Regulations committed on or between October 23, 2004 and October 22,
2008; or triple the monetary gain to Defendant for each violation of the
Act and Regulations described herein; and

f) such other and further remedial ancillary relief as the Court may deem
appropriate.
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Dated: /g@, 2009 ATTORNEYS FOR THE PLAINTIFF
U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING

COMMISSION

James H. Holl, IIl, Chief Trial Attorney
Gretchen L. Lowe, Associate Director
Division of Enforcement

U.S. Commodity Futures Trading
Commission

1155 21st Street, NW

Washington, DC 20581

Telephone (202) 418-5000

Facsimile (202) 418-5538
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